IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC12 - 1159

RAY J. JACKSON,

Appellant

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

**ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA
Lower Tribunal No. 2005-32590-CFAES**

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

**RAHEELA AHMED
Florida Bar No. 0713457
MARIA CHRISTINE PERINETTI
Florida Bar No. 0013837
Assistant CCRC - Middle Region
Law Office of the Capitol Collateral
Regional Counsel
3801 Corporex Park Drive,
Suite 210,
Tampa, FL 33619
(813) 740-3544
ahmed@ccmr.state.fl.us**

**Counsels for the Appellant
Ray J. Jackson**

FILED
2012 DEC 13 PM 1:18
TAMPA COUNTY CLERK
BY _____

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of a final order by the Circuit Court of the Seventh Judicial Circuit, in and for Volusia County denying relief to the Appellant, Ray J. Jackson ("Jackson"), upon his Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence of Death Pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851. The record on appeal for the trial proceedings consists of 34 volumes and 1 volume of exhibits. The record on appeal for the post-conviction proceedings consists of 16 volumes. The record on appeal for the trial proceedings will be referred to as "(RV __)" followed by the appropriate volume number and then page number(s). The post-conviction record on appeal will be referred to as "(PV____)" followed by the appropriate volume number and then page number(s). All other references will be self-explanatory or otherwise explained.

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT

Jackson is incarcerated, Union Correctional Institution, Raiford, Florida, under a sentence of death. The resolution of these appellate issues will determine whether Jackson lives or dies. This Court has allowed oral argument in other capital cases. A full opportunity to air the issues would be appropriate given the seriousness of the claims involved and the fact that a life is at stake. Jackson accordingly requests that this Honorable Court permit oral argument.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(A) Statement of the case pertaining to the trial proceedings.

Jackson was indicted on May 3, 2005, for the first degree murder and kidnapping of Pallis Paulk ("Paulk"). (RV1, 5-6). Michael Wooten ("Wooten"), Jackson's co-defendant, was indicted in a separate indictment also for first degree murder and kidnapping. Frederick Hunt ("Hunt") was also charged with kidnapping. Jackson was represented by Gerard Keating and Philip Bonamo ("Keating" and "Bonamo").

The voir dire was conducted from April 9, 2007, to April 12, 2007. The guilt phase was conducted from April 13, 2007, to April 19, 2007. On April 20, 2007, Jackson was found guilty on all counts. (RV25, 1469-1470). The penalty phase was conducted from May 7, 2007, to May 9, 2007. On May 9, 2007, the jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of 9 to 3. (RV30, 650-653). The trial court conducted a *Spencer* hearing on June 15, 2007. (RV15, 2387-2419). On June 21, 2007, the trial court sentenced Jackson to death for the murder and to life for the kidnapping, to run consecutively. (RV4, 704-712 & RV15, 2443-2444). The trial court filed a written Sentencing Order, the sentencing hearing. (RV4, 696-703). In the Order, the trial court found 3 statutory aggravators, no statutory mitigators and 12 non-statutory mitigators. (RV4, 697-702) & see *Jackson v. State*, 25 So.3d 518, 525, n.8 (Fla. 2009).

(B) Statement of the case pertaining to the direct appeal proceedings

Jackson filed a notice of appeal on July 2, 2007, which was denied on September 24, 2009. *See Jackson*, 25 So.3d 518. Thereafter, Jackson filed a petition for writ of certiorari to the Supreme Court of the United States which was denied on June 14, 2010. *See Jackson v. Florida*, 130 S.Ct. 3420 (2010).

(C) Statement of the case pertaining to the post-conviction proceedings

Jackson filed a Motion for Post-Conviction DNA testing pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.853, and an Amendment to the Last Known Location of the Evidence to be Tested. (PV10, 1360-1424 & 1462-1467). A hearing was conducted by the court on May 26, 2011. (PV1, 1-48). The court orally pronounced its order denying Jackson's Motion and on July 1, 2011, entered a written order denying DNA testing. (PV1, 30-34 & PV12, 1685-1689).

Thereafter, Jackson filed his Motion to Vacate Judgment of Conviction and Sentence of Death Pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 on April 12, 2011, putting forth 23 claims. (PV11, 1475-1590). The State filed a Response on May 27, 2011. (PV11, 1606-1643). At the case management conference the court orally announced its ruling granting an evidentiary hearing as to claims 1, 3, 4, 6, 10, 11, and 17. (PV1, 53, 75-86, 93, 95-105 & 110). The court reserved ruling on the legal claims 8, 9, 14, 15, 16, 20, 21, 22, and 23. (PV1, 63). The court orally announced its denial of an evidentiary hearing as to claims 2, 5, 7, 12, 13, 18, and

19. (PV1, 64-75, 86-93, 93-94 & 105-118). The court issued a written order dated August 22, 2012. (PV12, 1713-1715). The evidentiary was conducted from December 6, 2011, to December 8, 2011, and oral closing arguments were scheduled for December 28, 2011. The court did not order a transcript of the hearing upon the conclusion of the hearing and prior to its oral ruling. *See Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.851(f)(5)(D)(2011).*

On December 28, 2011, Jackson delivered his closing argument and filed a written Defendant's Closing Arguments. (PV7, 854-142 & PV8, 1020-1035 & V16, 2425-2501). The State also delivered its closing arguments and despite their objection to written closing arguments, they filed a written Closing Argument After Evidentiary Hearing on Rule 3.851 Motion. (PV8, 992-1020 & PV15, 2031-2424). Thereafter, the court recessed from 2:28 pm to 2:45 pm, when it orally announced its denial of the remaining claims. (PV8, 1038). A written order denying relief was later filed. (PV8, 1038-1078 & PV16, 2503-2528). Jackson filed his Notice of Appeal on May 29, 2012. (PV16, 2530-2569).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

(A) Statement of the facts of the trial proceedings

Jackson would rely on this Court's direct appeal opinion in *Jackson v. State*, 25 So.3d 518 for the statement of the facts of the trial. The evidence from the guilt phase was summarized by this Court in *Jackson*, 25 So.3d 518 from pages 522 to

524 of its opinion. The evidence presented, the penalty phase was summarized by this Court in *Jackson*, 25 So.3d 518 from pages 524 to 526 of its opinion.

(B) **Statement of the facts of the evidentiary hearing conducted during the post-conviction proceedings**

Jackson presents the following statement of facts as to the evidence presented at the evidentiary hearing in accordance with each claim that is being raised in this appeal.

i. **Evidence presented as to Claims 1, 6, 11, and 17.**

Claim 1 argued that counsel failed to properly investigate and to present Lewis' testimony to contradict that the victim was last seen alive on November 9, 2004. (PV2, 153-180). The victim's *brother*, Curtis Eugene Lewis Jr. ("Lewis"), testified in support of this claim. Lewis grew up with his sister and "had a pretty good relationship" and they went to the same schools. (PV2, 154-155). He lives with their grandmother in Daytona Beach. (PV2, 156). Around his sister's disappearance, Lewis had a relationship with Paulk and would see her "like once a month," and he would talk to her "[p]robably once every other week." (PV2, 155).

After his sister's body was found, Lewis spoke to law enforcement and provided them the following *hand-written statement under oath* on April 17, 2005, [Defense Exhibit 1]:

"The last time I saw pallis was *A week after my birthday of November 6* In the park Harlem park by bethune Cookman she was in a green lumina newer model with a Male person with dreadlocks. she

would usually Call me, least once every two weeks but I have not heard or Seen her Since then.”

(PV2, 160-161 & PV13, 2014). Lewis confirmed his date of birth as *November 6, 1977*. (PV2, 154). He testified that he told law enforcement that “[t]he last time [he] saw Pallis *was a week* after [his] birthday.” (PV2, 163). He was certain that he saw his sister a week after his birthday and not on November 7, 2004; because he was *certain* that he went to church on that day. (PV2, 164-166). Since Lewis only worked on the weekdays, he would not have seen Paulk during the work-week. (PV2, 166). The events at Bethune-Cookman Park would occur on the weekends. (PV2, 166-167). Lewis was certain that the last time he saw his sister “*was the 14th because it was a Sunday. It was a Sunday.*” (PV2, 167).

Lewis detailed his last meeting with his sister at Harlem Park. (PV2, 163). He saw his sister in a newer model “greenish-like Lumina with some guy with *dreadlocks.*” (PV2, 164). He testified in great detail about what transpired between them as follows:

“And she got out, she came over and gave me a hug and told me happy birthday because she forgot, because I hadn’t heard from her on my birthday. And the guy who was in the car with her, he was - - he was the driver, he got out and he walked across the street and talked to somebody he knew, and then he came over. She said his name. I can’t remember his name, though. He came and introduced himself to me. And she said, like, he was a friend of hers. He was involved with one of her friends, and they were going to go pick her up, a club here because she was a dancer.”

(PV2, 164). He further detailed their conversation as follows:

“She told me - - I can’t remember exactly what she said. I know that she told me happy birthday because she forgot. And I said - - when I see her then, I hadn’t seen her in about - - about three weeks, two weeks prior to that, and I remember her saying, ‘Happy birthday, bro. I’m sorry I couldn’t get you nothing you know.’ I told her don’t worry about it, you know, she don’t have to get me anything, but - - and she was talking to another friend of mine. He was standing by. She chatted with him a little bit. And, like I said, the guy who she was in the car with, he walked across the street and talked to somebody he knew briefly, and then he came back over where she was. He introduced himself to us. My friend - - one of my friends who was with me, he already knew him, but I didn’t know him, you know, but she’s like, ‘This is such-and-such and, you know, he go with such-and such.’”

(PV2, 171). Lewis testified that his sister “was fine” on this day and that she “was happy.” (PV2, 172). He confirmed that the man with dreadlocks was not Jackson, who he did not know, and described him as follows:

“He was a black male about 5’10”, 5’11”. I’d say he was in about his mid-20s, mid-20s, had black hair. That’s about all I can describe.”

(PV2, 174-175).

Lewis discussed with Mr. Davis his written statement *prior* to trial. (PV2, 168). He testified that there were no corrections then, and there are none to date. (PV2, 174). He was told by Mr. Davis that his testimony was not needed at trial. (PV2, 169). Lewis testified that he was never deposed or interviewed by Jackson’s attorneys or investigators, but he would have made himself available to talk to. (PV2, 170). During cross-examination, Lewis was unsure if he had spoken to an individual named “O’Malley,” but Lewis made it clear that he did not recall

whether he did or did not. (PV2, 176-177). Lewis went on to state that he did not recall talking to a defense investigator and that he was getting questions from a lot of people which included the police, his sister's daughter's father, and an investigator that Paulk's daughter's father hired. (PV2, 178-179).

Keating, the lead counsel, also testified as to claim 1. (PV5, 461 & 592-593). He testified that he had heard the name, "Curtis Eugene Lewis." (PV5, 598). He recognized Lewis' written statement and acknowledged that he had reviewed it upon receipt. (PV5, 598-599) He acknowledged that based on the sighting by Lewis beyond the November 9th date, *it would have put Paulk alive after the alleged date of the kidnapping and murder.* (PV5, 598-599). Keating demonstrated the importance of Lewis' statement as follows:

"But if I have a witness that says, 'I saw this victim alive after Ray put her in the trunk,' that would have suited my defense very well and I would have put him on the stand."

(PV5, 667). He did not recall personally interviewing nor meeting with Lewis, and he did not recall showing the statement to Lewis, but he *thought* that he had delegated the interview to his investigator, John O'Malley ("O'Malley").n (PV5, 600-601 & 657). He did not recall being present, any purported interview of Lewis. (PV5, 601). Keating relied on a memo from O'Malley, [State's Exhibit 5] and *O'Malley' assessment* of Lewis' credibility. (PV5, 662-663 & PV12, 1859-1860). *It should be noted that O'Malley did not testify at the evidentiary hearing.*

Jackson objected to the O'Malley's letters and statements to Keating as hearsay and speculation with regard to the investigations for which Keating was not present. (PV5, 659-664). The pertinent part of the hearsay memo is as follows:

“Later that day, we contacted Lewis and he said he saw Pallis during the week after his birthday which is November 6th. He said it was not a full week after his birthday, but it was during that week probably within two or three days; he could not be exact. He said he met her, Harlem Park near Bethune Cookman College and she was in a green Lumina. He said there was a male with dreadlocks who he did not recognize driving the vehicle.”

(PV12, 1859). Keating confirmed that after receiving the memo but he did not personally talk to or depose Lewis because “[he] thought that that reconciled it, that *more than likely than not* Lewis had seen her before - - on or before November 9th, which is November 6th plus 3 days would.” (PV5, 717-719 & 720). Keating never showed Lewis his statement but he speculated that his investigator did, yet he acknowledged that he did not know what transpired during O'Malley's investigations. (PV5, 601-602 & 720-721).

During cross-examination, Keating testified that he wanted to “tread carefully with family members” because of their loss and the rule of sequestration. (PV5, 718). Yet, he acknowledged that he had deposed almost every witness in this case except Lewis and Mr. Larry Paulk, the victim's uncle. (PV5, 781). However, Keating *spoke to Mr. Larry Paulk over the phone*. (PV5, 603-604 & 718). Keating made it clear that if Lewis had stuck with his written statement, he “*definitely*

would have used him.” (PV5, 667).

Claim 6 argued that counsel presented an unreasonable defense that a serial killer who was responsible for three other deaths in Daytona Beach was possibly responsible for Paulk’s death (“serial killer defense”). Captain Brian Skipper (“Skipper”) was the sole witness presented in Jackson’s case in chief. (RV23, 1054 & PV5, 604). Keating only relied on Paulk’s high-risk lifestyle and the location of her remains to tie her to the serial killings. (RV23, 1059-1060). Keating testified, the hearing that

“[t]he purpose was to use Captain Skipper to establish the fact that there was a serial killer, large in Volusia County, Florida, at or near the time of the killing or disappearance of Pallis Paulk so as to, perhaps, establish *a reasonable hypothesis of innocence* that Ray Jackson was not the killer but perhaps the serial killer was the killer of Pallis Paulk.”

(PV5, 604). Keating testified that he recalled having *maybe a five minute phone* conversation with Skipper prior to trial and that “neither the State Attorney nor the Daytona Beach Police Department really wanted [him] to - - to get into the serial killer because it was an ongoing investigation, so they were very circumspect in the information they would give.” (PV5, 605-606). Keating was given “some limited information” and he “tried to establish general parameters or similarities between Pallis Paulk with her being - - may she rest in peace - - being a prostitute and her body being found in a location where other victims of the serial killer had been found.” (PV5, 470). However, it is clear that when Keating put Skipper on the

stand, he was unaware of Skipper's *entire* testimony because they "were very tight-lipped" about the investigation. (PV5, 606-607).

Despite Keating's acknowledgement that Skipper and law enforcement determined that there was no connection whatsoever between Paulk's murder and the serial killings, he believed that Skipper's testimony did not hurt his case.

Keating reasoned as follows:

"when you – you call a witness, especially a witness like this who would not necessarily be favorable to my case, every witness has a positive and a negative. So what I was trying to get into evidence was that there was a serial killer out in the community, that the victims were prostitutes and that the victims were killed and their bodies were found out by the woods. . . . When you put on a witness who is not a favorable witness, you take hits sometimes."

(PV5, 609-611). Keating also stated that Skipper was "an unfavorable witness" and did not want to testify, yet Keating believed the defense was "viable." (PV5, 611).

At the evidentiary hearing, forensic criminologist expert Brent Turvey, M.S. Forensic Scientist ("Turvey") testified in support of claim 6. (PV4, 393-510). Turvey gave a detailed testimony of his extensive education, experience, and background as a forensic scientist and criminal profiler. (PV4, 393-439). Turvey testified in a number of cases as listed in his *curriculum vitae* [Defense Exhibit 20]. (PV4, 425-426). He has been qualified and was accepted in this case as an expert in the areas of forensic science, crime reconstruction, linkage analysis, and victomology. (PV4, 428-450). Turvey has been an asset to law enforcement

agencies in serial homicide and rape cases. (PV4, 403-406 & 408-409).

Turvey testified that “linkage analysis is essentially examining cases to determine whether or not they are linked in some fashion” where “[y]ou’ve got two cases or three cases or more and you don’t know if they’re committed possibly by the same person” and his “job in both instances is essentially the same, to help law enforcement or attorneys understand whether or not there is sufficient behavioral evidence to *say these cases have been committed by the same offender.*” (PV4, 402-403 & 432). Turvey in determining his opinion looked at materials from the Daytona Beach Police Department, the medical examiner, the C.A. Pound Human Identification Laboratory, FDLE and the trial materials. (PV4, 452-454). He also reviewed the articles [Defense Exhibit 22] that came from Keating’s trial boxes regarding the serial killings. (PV4, 454 & PV5, 612-617). Keating relied on these articles and the five minute phone call for his defense. (PV5, 612-617). Turvey testified that he did not need to speak to Skipper because it “would not be appropriate” and he would not need to analyze the physical evidence or speak to the investigators for his analysis. (PV4, 507-509).

Turvey’s first finding based on his review of Jackson’s case was as follows:

“[T]he very first issue of reliability and sufficiency, . . . *there is insufficient information to – for comparing this case to a known or serial pattern case, if you’re trying to make a - - confirm a connection.*”

(PV4, 477). He cautioned against relying solely on newspaper articles but agreed

that the articles are a legitimate stepping stone once there is corroboration as to whether Paulk's murder was linked to the killings. (PV4, 460-461 & 473). Since Keating relied on the articles, the following question was posed to Turvey:

"Q. If all you had was the newspaper articles, would you have advised trial counsel to do the serial killer defense in this case."

(PV4, 473), to which he answered as follows:

"A. Oh, absolutely not. Again the newspapers raise the question, but they don't answer it."

(PV4, 473). With regard to Skipper's testimony, Turvey made the following pertinent findings:

"A Well, he was specifically asked, you know, what were the similarities, I think, and then -- and then he was asked whether or not he considered this was linked to it, so I think he was asked that question. . . And he answered no. So, obviously, in his mind case linkage was something that, one, the task force was doing; and two, he had not done -- he had not linked this case to that series. . . .

A Well, they're -- victimologically speaking, they are not dissimilar. They are -- Pallis Paulk was engaged in what someone referred to as prostitution, she was involved in drugs. The other victims were prostitutes and they were drug addicts. That's not a question. They all happened in the State of Florida in the same general geographic region, but that's sort of where it breaks down. The differences become very apparent very quickly, and that is -- . . .

A In my opinion, yes, there's not a lot of -- great deal of relevant similarity beyond that. . .

The differences are very strong and very -- very obvious. And one is, in the case of Pallis Paulk, while we have no method of killing, we have no evidence of a gunshot wound, that I'm aware of, and all the victims in the serial murder case, they were all shot.

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