IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DK
RECEIVED 19 JAN 2015

RAY JACKSON,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

Case No. SC12-1159

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI
ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 998818

Office of the Attorney General
444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500
Daytona Beach, Florida 32118
ken.nunnelley@myfloridalegal.com
Secondary E-Mail:
CapApp@MyFloridaLegal.com
(386)238-4990
(386)226-0457 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

As to comments made by the prosecutor commenting on closing arguments regarding the co-defendant's action, Mr. Wooten, this Court finds that had nothing to do with this case as the defendants, Mr. Jackson and Mr. Wooten, were tried together. For these reasons stated this Court finds that trial counsel not deficient and their actions were reasonable and they did function as competent counsel as to Claim 14.

(V16, R2523-24). Those findings are correct in all respects, and should not be disturbed.

To the extent that any further discussion of this claim is warranted, the statements about the victim's state of mind are a fair comment on the evidence and were made in the initial closing argument. The statement regarding "Faith" being the name of the victim's daughter was in rebuttal to defense closing that tattoos of "Nasty Girl" and "Faith" were indicative of her risky lifestyle. (V25, 1327). The comments about the victim being hunted down, bound, stuck in a tub, crammed in a trunk and murdered are all facts in evidence. *Jackson v. State*, 25 So. 3d 518, 523-24 (Fla. 2010). The medical examiner testimony regarding animals unearthing the body is also a fact in evidence (V18, R238). The prosecutor's statements were fair comments on the evidence. See *Buzia v. State/Crosby*, 82 So. 3d 784, 796 (Fla. 2011); (defendant is an axe murderer); *Silvia v. State*, 60 So. 3d 959, 976 (Fla. 2011)(defendant attempted to

murder wife's father in addition to his wife and her mother); *Wade v. State*, 41 So. 3d 857, 869 (Fla. 2010) ("The proper exercise of closing argument is to review the evidence and to explicate those inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence.").

The statement regarding having courage to come in to testify is a fair comment on the evidence, as is the comment regarding threats. Hunt was told Jackson intended to kill him, and Morris was threatened **in the courtroom**.

The rebuttal statements about the defense being "easy pickings" was rebuttal to defense counsel's argument denigrating the witnesses' credibility as (1) Hunt expecting a benefit because of pending charges (V25, R1317); (2) Morris being an accomplice to the robbery of Jackson sentenced only to probation (V25, R1332, 1334); (3) Vreen being a drug seller (V25, R1333); (4) Thomas being arrested for driving without a license (V25, 1324); (5) Hunt smoking 6 joints of marijuana in one afternoon (V25, R1332); (6) Hunt hearing voices (V25, R1340); (7) Hunt and Bush having a homosexual relationship (V25, R1341).

The rebuttal statement regarding the serial killer defense and the various other theories of defense were likewise fair comment on the evidence. Defense counsel did argue that Pallis Paulk could have been killed by the serial killer who preyed on prostitutes, or by a john or dissatisfied customer because she

was a pimp, or by an overdose because of her drug use, or by AIDS. (V25, R1317-1321). Wide latitude is allowed in closing argument. The purpose of closing argument is to review the evidence and to explicate those inferences which may reasonably be drawn from the evidence. *Silvia, supra; Gonzalez v. State*, 990 So. 2d 1017, 1028-29 (Fla. 2008) (quoting *Bertolotti v. State*, 476 So. 2d 130, 134 (Fla. 1985)). When the prosecutor's statements are read in context as rebuttal to the defense arguments, as they must be, they are not inappropriate. See *Wade v. State*, 41 So. 3d 857, 869 (Fla. 2010).

Because there is no merit to the underlying claim that the prosecutor's comments were improper, there is no ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to object to those comments. See *Pagan v. State*, 29 So. 3d 938, 949 (Fla. 2009 (citing *Heath v. State*, 3 So. 3d 1017, 1033 (Fla. 2009) (counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to make a meritless argument)). Relief was properly denied.

Claim 15.

This claim is that defense counsel's closing argument was not "effective and coherent." The trial court found that:

The trial record stands on its own in reference to that. This Court finds that the closing arguments by the defense counsel was logical, coherent, and trial counsel was not deficient in its closing arguments.

(V16, R2524-25). Defense counsel's argument was 38 pages long.

(DAR, V25, R1313-50). Jackson's brief does not identify what shortcomings there allegedly were in closing argument, nor does his brief identify or explain what should have been done that was not. In other words, Jackson's conclusory brief does not identify any deficiency on the part of trial counsel, and does not explain how those unidentified failings satisfy the prejudice prong of *Strickland*. With no explanation of what should have been done but was not, there can be no reasonable probability of a different result. There is no basis for relief.

Claims 16, 20, and 21.

Claims 16, 20, and 21 are cumulative error claims. There can be no "cumulative error" in the absence of individual error. *Griffin v. State*, 866 So. 2d 1, 22 (Fla. 2003). The collateral proceeding trial court resolved these claims in the following way:

Claim 16 was also set for argument only and not the taking of any testimony. This Claim was that the cumulative effect of trial counsel errors during the guilt phase deprived the defendant of a fair trial. This Court has found that the trial counsel was not deficient in any of the Claims argued so far and that the cumulative effect argument fails.

Claim 20 was another Claim which was scheduled for argument only and not taking of any testimony. That Claim was that the cumulative effect of the penalty phase errors denied the defendant a fair trial. Again, this Court has found that there were no errors committed by the trial counsel during the penalty phase.

Claim 21 again was an argument only Claim that the cumulative effect of trial counsel errors both in the guilt and penalty phase denied the defendant a fair trial. Again, this Court has

found that there were no errors committed by the trial counsel either in the guilt or penalty phase and had there been, which this Court finds did not occur, then the second prong, the prejudice prong had not been proven.

(V16, R2525-26). Those findings are correct in all respects, and should not be disturbed.

Claims 22 and 23.

Claims 22 and 23 are, according to Jackson, raised simply to preserve them for later review. As to Claim 22, this Court has repeatedly rejected challenges to the constitutionality of section 945.10 on the merits. See *Darling v. State*, 45 So. 3d 444, 448 (Fla. 2010) (citing *Ventura v. State*, 2 So. 3d 194, 197 n. 3 (Fla. 2009); see also *Henyard v. State*, 992 So. 2d 120, 130 (Fla. 2008) ("We previously found section 945.10 facially constitutional and decline to recede from our decision now.")).

Additionally, even if this Court was willing to recede from this precedent, as of this date, the Governor has not signed a death warrant for Jackson; consequently, even if ordered to do so, the Department of Corrections could not state with any certainty who Jackson's eventual executioners would be. Cf. *Lightbourne v. McCollum*, 969 So. 2d 326, 343 (Fla. 2007) ("[T]his Court [previously] stated that there is a presumption that the members of the executive branch will properly perform their duties in carrying out an execution.") (alterations in original) (quoting *Provenzano*, 761 So. 2d 1097, 1099 (Fla. 2000)). Claim 23 is an "incompetency for execution" claim which

is premature. That claim is not ripe for review since a death warrant has not been issued. This Court has repeatedly held that no relief is warranted under similar circumstances. See, e.g., *Gonzalez v. State*, 990 So. 2d 1017, 1035 (Fla. 2008) (rejecting claim that defendant may not be competent at the time of execution where defendant acknowledges that claim is not ripe for review and was being raised only for preservation purposes) (citing *State v. Coney*, 845 So. 2d 120, 137 n. 19 (Fla. 2003)). See also *Troy v. State*, 57 So. 2d 828 (Fla. 2011). There is no basis for relief of any sort on any claim or sub-claim contained in Issue II of Jackson's brief.

ISSUE III: THE "SUMMARY DENIAL" CLAIM

On pages 81-96 of his brief, Jackson says that he should have been afforded an evidentiary hearing on Claims 2, 5, 7, 12 and 18. Because these claims were summarily denied, that ruling will be affirmed so long as the law and competent substantial evidence support the denial of relief. *Diaz v. Dugger*, 719 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998). With respect to all of these claims, the collateral proceeding trial court issued a written order denying relief on August 22, 2011. (V12, R1713-14). That order incorporated the rulings from the August 10, 2011 case management conference where the court entered rulings on these claims in open court. The transcript of that proceeding was attached to the order, and fully set forth the trial court's

rulings. In *Rose v. State*, 985 So. 2d 500, 503 (Fla. 2008), this Court cited *Nixon v. State*, 932 So. 2d 1009, 1018 (Fla. 2006), for the proposition that "In order to support summary denial, the trial court must either state its rationale in the order denying relief or attach portions of the record that would refute the claims." The order in this case complies with those requirements in all respects, and there is no procedural deficiency.

Claim 2.

Jackson argues that counsel must ask jurors whether they are able to consider specific issues, such as neglect and abandonment, as mitigation. Thus, the argument goes, counsel failed to "uncover potential jurors from the venire who may refuse to consider valid mitigating evidence." Jackson does not identify any case law to support the claim counsel is ineffective unless he questions jurors about specific areas of mitigation.

Limited questioning regarding a juror's views on the death penalty, or "death qualification" is allowed pursuant to *Witherspoon v. Illinois*, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968). See *San Martin v. State*, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1343 (Fla. 1997), citing *Lockhart v. McCree*, 476 U.S. 162, 173, 106 S.Ct. 1758, 1764, 90 L.Ed.2d 137 (1986). This Court has repeatedly held that "[t]he scope of *voir dire* questioning rests in the

sound discretion of the court and will not be interfered with unless that discretion is clearly abused." *Darling v. State*, 808 So. 2d 145, 160 (Fla. 2002) (quoting *Franqui v. State*, 699 So. 2d 1312, 1322 (Fla. 1997)).

At the time of trial, the trial judge reviewed the two questions which have been recommended for death qualifying a jury and stated that he intended to ask the two questions. (DAR, V7, R997). The trial judge instructed the jury regarding aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (DAR, V7, R1002-03). The trial judge explained weighing aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (DAR, V7, R1010). The prosecutor questioned the jurors regarding aggravators and mitigators, (DAR, V7, R1137-38, 1139-40, 1141-42, 1146). Jackson's attorney questioned the jurors regarding mitigating circumstances. (DAR, V8, R1239-40, 1259, 1264-65, 1266; V12, R1854, 1856; V15, R2279-80, 2284-85). The codefendant's attorney talked to the jury about aggravators and mitigators. (DAR, V8, R1304).

Jackson cannot establish deficient performance or prejudice simply because counsel did not discuss the specifics of statutory/nonstatutory mitigation or specific mitigating circumstances. Jackson cites to no case law to support his theory that it is appropriate to discuss the specifics of mitigation in *voir dire*. The purpose of *voir dire* is to "obtain a fair and impartial jury, whose minds are free of all interest,

bias, or prejudice, not to shock potential jurors or to obtain a preview of their opinions of the evidence." *Hoskins v. State*, 965 So. 2d 1, 13 (Fla. 2007). The trial judge properly limited his questions to those recommended for capital cases, and the record reflects the trial judge's instructions and responses to venire members' questions were all consistent with the standard instructions for capital cases. See *Jones v. State*, 845 So. 2d 55, 67 (Fla. 2003); *Kearse v. State*, 770 So. 2d 1119, 1130 (Fla. 2000).

Likewise, Jackson cannot show prejudice because he did not identify any juror who, with more extensive questioning, would have been found to be either unqualified or biased. See *Davis v. State*, 928 So. 2d 1089, 1118 (Fla. 2005) (rejecting Davis's claim of ineffective assistance based on trial counsel's alleged failure to question the jurors about their views concerning drugs, alcohol abuse, and mental illness because Davis failed to demonstrate that any unqualified juror served in the case or that any juror was biased or had an animus toward Davis's theory of the case). See also *Ferrell v. State*, 29 So. 3d 959, 974 (Fla. 2010). With respect to both prongs of *Strickland*, this claim is conclusory and summary denial was appropriate. (V 1, R 74-5). Because there is absolutely no case law to support allowing questioning jurors about whether they would "give meaningful consideration" to mitigation evidence, and because

there is no case law support for the concept that counsel can use *voir dire* to get jurors to commit to deciding matters in a certain way, there is no legal basis for relief, and, consequently, there is an insufficiency of pleading. The collateral proceeding trial court properly denied this insufficiently pleaded and legally baseless claim without an evidentiary hearing. (V1, R74-5).

Claim 5.

Claim 5 is a claim that trial counsel was ineffective for not moving to sever Jackson's trial from his co-defendant's trial. **Trial counsel objected to the State's motion to consolidate.** (V6, R847-852; V3, 555). After the State elicited testimony that codefendant Wooten threatened witness Morris during jury selection, **trial counsel moved to sever his case from Wooten's.** (V24, R1237-40). Jackson claims trial counsel should have moved to sever yet again when Wooten testified about evidence of other bad acts which showed Jackson's "propensity to associate with or possess guns and that Mr. Jackson had a propensity to seek revenge or retribution." The testimony cited by Jackson involves Wooten's testimony at pages 1202 and 1224 of the record. Jackson moved to sever shortly thereafter, citing not only Wooten's threat to Morris, but also Wooten's testimony and the "pour-over" effect to Mr. Jackson which was more prejudicial than probative. (V24, R1239). Wooten's testimony involved a phone

call from Hunt regarding Jackson's cousin being killed in Melbourne. (V24, R1201). Dewayne, Latisha's boyfriend, got some guns and wanted Jackson to go to Melbourne. (V24, R1202, 1224). Wooten's testimony was speculation about what happened in Melbourne and did not indicate that Jackson went to Melbourne or threatened retribution. To the contrary, Wooten's testimony indicated that Jackson was not going to be involved with guns or going to Melbourne because he had been doing more "positive things" with his business and opening a new business. (V24, R1224, 1226, 1228). Wooten's testimony was obviously contrived in an attempt to explain Hunt's phone call in which Wooten implicated himself. The testimony was not prejudicial to Jackson.

Not only did trial counsel move for severance at two points in the trial, Wooten's testimony was not prejudicial to Jackson. Even if there were an inference that Jackson was involved with people who owned guns, that inference pales in comparison with the evidence Jackson was a drug dealer, kidnapped and killed Pallis Paulk because she stole from him, warned Latisha Allen the same could happen to her, and threatened Calvin Morris with a gun. Jackson fails to advise how counsel could have excluded Wooten's testimony since it is not *Bruton* material. This claim fails for lack of deficiency and prejudice.

To the extent that Jackson argues that the testimony violated

the court's order regarding Jackson carrying a gun, a similar issue was raised on direct appeal. This portion of the issue could have been raised on appeal together with the other "gun" issue and is procedurally barred. In any case, Wooten's testimony did not indicate Jackson was carrying a gun: it was Dewayne who had the guns.

Finally, Jackson claims trial counsel failed to "make the appropriate argument for severance." He makes conclusory allegations that the "controlled call is inadmissible hearsay against Mr. Jackson." As to the claim Hunt was a law enforcement agent, that issue is procedurally barred and could have been raised on direct appeal. Jackson has not shown that a severance would have been granted had he objected additional times, and has offered no legal basis for such a conclusion. The collateral proceeding trial court found that there was no deficient performance, and denied relief. That ruling is correct, and should be affirmed in all respects.

Claim 7.

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